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_ﬂ Ithough little is known of Heal Cove’s pre-

colonial history, it is likely fair to say that life centered on
the water, as when European settlers arrived.The Cove’s
waters provided transportation, food, work, and with its
favorable geography: power.

Early settlers — the Dunfons and the Shattucks — saw
and capitalized on the economic potential of the site.
They created an inland pond adjacent to fidal waters by
attaching a small island near the shore fo the mainland
on one side and to a stone dam on the other. A sliding
gate in the dam created the ability to generate power
by capturing and releasing tidal waters of the Sasanoa
River in and from the pond.These waters powered

what became lucrative saw and grist mills under the
stewardship of the James Heal family, shipping products
to ports up and down the Atlantic seaboard.

The property stayed in the Heal family for more than
100 years. In 1947, the Heal homestead became the
dream home of the Jack and Jean Smith family whose
descendants own and honor its legacy fo this day.

This exhibit was designed to share and preserve the
history of this iconic Westport Island homestead.
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n about 1770, Daniel Dunton (1755-1817),
the youngest son of Timothy Dunton—the first settler of
Jeremysquam’s west shore—claimed land south and
west of brothers Joseph and Samuel’s land.

Part of Daniel’s property was a boot-shaped island in
what lafer would be known as Heal Cove. Recognizing
both the need and potential for tidal power at his family’s
settlement, Daniel filled in the waterway on the western
side of his island, creating a peninsula. Between the
eastern side of the new peninsula and the mainland

he built a dam, creating a large pond. He then began
construction of the lumber mill he had envisioned.

Tide mills had large sliding gates within their dams that
were pushed open by the incoming fide, allowing water

to fill the millpond. After reaching high tide, the water in
the pond began to receed through the gates, causing the
gates to close. Water pressure then caused a sluice gate
positioned below the mill to open.The rushing water turned
a water wheel, which then powered the mill. Working
hours were regulated by the tides rather than by the clock.
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ABOVE: Section of 1772
British Map by Deputy
Ensign George Sproule,
showing land claimed by
settler Timothy Dunton and
his sons.

LEFT: Enlargement of 1772
British Map showing Daniel
Dunton claim.
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LEFT & BELOW LEFT: Diagrams of sawmill operation.

BELOW: Sawmill workers posing for photo, c. 1880s.
Jerry and Dike Mason Family Collection
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n 1766, carpenter and millwright Levi
Shattuck (1755-1817) moved from Pepperell,
Massachusetts fo the District of Maine. He lived and
worked in Bath, Woolwich, and Georgetown before settling
on Jeremysquam island.

By 1784, Daniel Dunton may have found the cost of
constructing his lumber mill beyond his means. He sold
his island and mill rights to Levi Shattuck. Levi paid £15 for
the mill rights and two parcels of land (a 1-acre potential
home site and 12 acres around the pond).

After completing the lumber mill, Levi added a grist mill,
doubling the mill’s operation. This required purchasing
additional land to the east of the millpond, enabling the
Shattucks to control much of the land surrounding the
pond.The mill became known as the Shattuck Mills.

Levi settled here with his wife, Margaret Robbins Shattuck,
and two children, David and Sarah. The first United States
census in 1790 lists Levi, Margaret, and two feenaged ABOVE: Section of Parson’s 1815 map showing properties

children.Their home still stands as a part of the home owned by Levi Shattuck and brother Jonas Shattuck.
presiding over Heal Cove today.

ABOVE: Team of horses hauling logs, c. 1800s.
Connie Ostis Collection ABOVE: Section of page from Memorials of the Descendants of
William Shattuck, 1855, describing Levi Shattuck.
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n 1784, Jonas Shattuck (1756-1847) moved
to Jeremysquam and purchased a half interest in the grist
mill his brother Levi had established.

Jonas had served in the Revolutionary War, fighting at
Lexington and Concord and in the Battle of Bunker Hill.

He was briefly with General Benedict Amold’s march fo
Quebec, but then served as a corporal in Capt. Jewett’s
Company, af Drummond Island in Lake George, N.Y.On
Sept. 24,1777, he was badly injured by British gunfire and
was subsequently captured by the British. While a prisoner,
his badly infected leg had to be amputated above the
knee. A year later he was exchanged and sailed with 700
former prisoners to Boston.

After the war, Jonas became a shoemaker. Although he
owned a half interest in the grist mill, he did not participate
in mill operation. His home was on the southeast side of
the millpond.

Jonas married Anna Robbins in 1786 (sister of Margaret,
Levi's wife); they had two daughters, Dolly (1787-1812)
and Hannah (1791-1849).

ABOVE: Illustration of the Battle at Bunker’s Hill, one of the battles

that Jonas Shattuck fought in.
Yale University, Mabel Brady Garvan Collection

ABOVE: Section of pages from Memorials of the
Descendants of William Shattuck, 1855 describing
Jonas Shattuck.



ABOVE: Statement written by Jonas Shattuck in 1842 detailing his service in the Revolutionary War. Written to ensure the
continuation of his pension.

RIGHT: Document regarding Jonas Shattuck’s pension, upon
passage of the Pension Act of 1785. National Archives and Records

Invalid Maine Roll

Issue a new certificate
for Jonas Shattuck,
Private Massachusetts
Militia, $8 per

month commencing
March 17, 1786.

In lieu of one dated

May 29, 1787, which has
been cancelled.

Send cert. to Hon. Benjn.
Randall,
House of Rep
Act 7 June 1785
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G evi's son David Shattuck (1774-1859) worked
both with his father at the mill and as a shipbuilder. In
1797 he married Ruth Mahoney; they had ten children. He
succeeded his father Levi with a half interest in the lumber
mill and grist mill. In about 1825, David built the Greek
Revival house that now stands on the property, most likely
adding to the original home which is believed to be the
modest wing now serving as a woodshed.

David served as a Surveyor of Highways on the island for
many years. Roads were important to the mill in order to
access and move raw materials, connect the family’s land,
and move product to the landings and markets.

By 1840, David's son Thomas Shattuck (1813-1900), a
carpenter, owned shares in the mill operations. That year,
mill production grew to 400,000 board feet of lumber and
1,250 bushels of grain.

ABOVE: Section of pages from Memorials of the
Descendants of William Shattuck, 1855 describing David
Shattuck and family.

ABOVE: Lumber scene, c.1880.
Connie Ostis Collection



LEFT: Greek Revival-style house that
David Shattuck built about 1825.
Photo ¢.1875.

Connie Ostis Collection

RIGHT: Section of page
from 1828 Westport
Town Records showing
value of David ShattucK’s
property, including land,
house, barn, outhouses,
mills, and livestock.
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Enley James

n 1808, James Heal (1781-1861) married
Jonas Shattuck’s daughter Hannah. After bearing two
children, Hannah died in 1812. Six years later, James
married Jonas's other daughter, Dolly. By 1821, James
Heal had purchased Jonas Shattuck’s shares of the
lumber mill. James had eight children, with four of his
sons succeeding him in mill operation and ownership.

James Heal served at Fort McDonough, War of 1812 in
Capt. Samuel Tarbox’s Company, Col. E. Cutter’s Regiment
and was a signatory on the Separation Pefition from
Edgecomb. He also served the Town as a Surveyor of
Highways.

The mid-1800s were a busy time for the Heal family.The
gristmill was converted to a sawmill in about 1840. The
subsequent increase in production allowed James Heal
and his sons Jonas (1812-1888) and Robbins (1818-
1882) to purchase David Shattuck’s interest in the mills in
1843. Jonas acted as millwright and overseer of the mill.

With an eye to expansion, in 1848 Robbins Heal purchased
Y interest in the Riggs Mill (Lower Mill). Brother William
(1829-1886) took over the operation of the Lower Mill.

In 1857, the Town approved building a bridge over the
Mill Pond.

ABOVE: Section of pages from Memorials of the Descendants
of William Shattuck, 1855 describing Dolly and Hannah
Shattuck, their marriages to James Heal, and their children.

Iy 18940,
the Upper Mill produced
1,250 bushels of grain and
400,000 board feet of lumber

LEFT: Section of page from 1829 Westport
Town Records showing the value of James
Heal property.
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LU/ pon the death of James Heal in 1861, sons
Robbins and William Heal took ownership of their father’s
Upper Mill shares. Shortly thereafter, in 1864, the Heal
family completely took over the Upper Mill homestead,
when Thomas Shattuck sold the home, property, and his
shares of the Upper Mill fo Levi Heal (1825-1898).The
Upper Mill was now owned and operated by the four
brothers: Jonas, Robbins, Levi, and William.

In 1868, William Heal acquired Y2 of the Riggs Mill (Lower
Heal Mill); Robbins Heal purchased the other Yz; the Lower
Mill was now completely owned by the Heal Brothers.

Machinery upgrades were introduced, and by 1870 the
mill produced 1,400,000 board feet of lumber. The mill
was apparently foo successful:in 1879, the mill’s lumber
production exceeded the capacity fo ship the product.

According fo valuation records, the brothers not only
owned shares in the mill, they each owned shares of
schooners and other businesses as well.

ABOVE: Receipt for sale of
lumber in 1876 to Swazey &
Warner, Boston, Mass.

William & Harriet Heal Collection

ABOVE TOP: The Upper Mill, c.1880. Meigs Collection
ABOVE BOTTOM: Moving logs at the mill.

Lantern Slides Collection

Iy 1569,

the Upper Mill produced
1,400,000 board feet
of lumber

ABOVE: Article in Seaside Oracle, June 5, 1875



CHAPTER SIX |

ABOVE: Portrait of Levi Heal, c.1870.
Tarbox Family Collection

RIGHT: Entry in book Biographical Review:
Containing Life Sketches of Leading Citizens of
Sagadahoc, Lincoln, Knox, and Waldo Counties,
Maine. 1897.

LEFT: Part of letter written
by Robbins Heal to brother
William in 1861. Robbins
was then living with his sister
Hannah Anna and brother-
in-law James Loring Tarbox,
in Needham, Massachusetts.
William & Harriet Heal
Collection




ABOVE TOP: Iconic image of Mabel Heal on mill bridge in ABOVE: Safety sign from Heal Mill.
front of Heal’s Upper Mill, c.1877. Connie Ostis Collection William & Harriet Heal Collection

ABOVE BOTTOM: Riding past the Levi Heal house during a
family outing, ¢.1890. Ames-Krause Collection
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‘ he 1880s was a difficult decade for the Heal
brothers. Robbins Heal “disappeared” on a February
night in 1882 at the age of 64. He was declared dead by
drowning in 1886 and his mill assets were disbursed o
his four heirs.

The Upper Mill ceased operation in about 1890 due to
competition from more efficient gasoline-powered mills.

BELOW: Notebook entries detailing the value and distribution of
Robbins Heal’s assets.

ABOVE: Newspaper article about the disappearance of
Robbins Heal, 1919. The Times Record

LEFT: Part of a 1862 letter to Robbins Heal from 9-year-old
niece Annie Tarbox (daughter of Hannah Anna Heal Tarbox).
William & Harriet Heal Collection



UPPER LANDING |

mmroducton of the steamboat ushered

in easier travel for passengers and easier transport of
commercial goods and the mail. The Eastern Steamship
Company began service in about 1875, connecting the
Bath railway with surrounding islands, including Westport.
From then until 1907 (when rural free delivery started)
mail arrived by steamboat and was carried by horse and
wagon fo the Post Office at the center of the island, where
each family collected its own mail.

Beginning in 1884, the Wiwurna and the slightly smaller
Nahanada traveled the Bath-to-Boothbay route.The
Nahanada ran between Boothbay and Wiscasset during
the winfer. Both of these vessels were shallow draft and
could therefore land af the long-extended pier at the
Upper Landing near the Heal/Shattuck Mill.

The Upper Landing was not usable during low tide. At
those times, passengers, freight and mail were unloaded
at the Lower Heal Mill (Junction) landing and shiffed to
small boats to be transported fo the Upper landing.

Steamboat service at the Upper Landing ended in 1913
when the pier was no longer usable.

BELOW: Remnants of Heal’s Upper Mill with Upper Mill steamship ABOVE: Steamship Schedule, 1915. WCA Collection
landing pier in background, c. 1900. Tarbox Family Collection




UPPER LANDING

ABOVE: Upper Landing at Heal Cove, c. 1900. ABOVE: Steamer Westport, ¢.1900. Swanton Book Collection
Connie Ostis Collection

ABOVE: Horse and Buggy (with Margaret (Mrs. Eugene
Webber) at Upper Steamship Landing. Lantern Slide Collection

ABOVE: Steamship Brochure/
Schedule, 1903. WCA Collection

ABOVE: Eastern Steamship ticket. GD Richardson Family Collection



ABOVE: Steamer Wiwurna,
¢.1900. Tarbox Family
Collection

RIGHT: Contract between
Levi Heal and The Eastern
Steamship Company.
Connie Ostis Collection
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‘ or almost 50 years, the Heal Mill property was
owned in part or in whole by two Mabels: Mabel Heal and
Mabel Eisnor.

Mabel Heal (1872-1937), the only child of Levi Heal and
Nancy Brooks (1837-1915), lived her life at the Heal
family homestead. She graduated from East Greenwich
Academy in Rhode Island in 1893. She taught for most of
her career in Westport beginning in 1895—at the South

In about 1900, she aftended the Page Kindergarten
School in Danvers, Massachusetts for additional training.

In 1898, Mabel’s father Levi Heal died. Along with her
mother, she inherited the house and property from her
father's estate. During the next forty years, Mabel remained
single, teaching, caring for her mother, working the farm,
and raising poultry. She also hosted boarders and farm
workers to help her with farm work and expenses.

She was an active participant in the Westport Grange and
the Westport Methodist Episcopal Church.

End, Center, and North End schools—until the mid-1930s.

BELOW: Newspaper tidbits and articles mentioning Mabel Heal.

ABOVE: Center School class photo, most likely of teacher
Mabel Heal and her students since the photograph was
found in the Heal family home. Mabel Heal taught in West-
port schools ca. 1896-1934. The majority of her service was
at the Center School. Connie Ostis Collection

ABOVE: Page from Louise Brooks autograph book, written
by Mabel Heal, 1888. George D Richardson Sr Family Collection

Lincoln County News, 11/20/1890

The publle schools in town commenced
April 27. Miss Alice L. Murphy of
Haverhill, Mass., is instructor at the
north school, Miss Mabel P. Heal at the
center and Mrs. E. V, Lewis st the south.

Bath Independent, 04/30/1904

Biddeford Weekly Journal 1922
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the ensuing decades.

Mabel Heal’s home.

n 1916, Mabel Eisnor (1879-1963) came
to Westport as a supply (short-term) minister serving
as a deaconess at the Westport Methodist Episcopal
Church. After serving for two years, she continued fo
officiate af Westport services and religious functions for

The two Mabels became friends, sharing inferests in
church, farming, and education. In the 1920 and 1930
U.S. Censuses, Mabel Eisnor was listed as a lodger at

Mabel Heal executed a will in 1929 which upon her
death would leave the house and property to her good
friend Mabel Eisnor. She had unsuccessfully tried fo sell
the property in 1932 as a boys’ camp or gentleman’s
estate. The work and cost of maintaining the property on
a teacher’s salary was likely overwhelming.

Mabel Heal died in 1937 leaving the property to Mabel
Eisnor, who lived in the Upper Mill House until 1955.

TOP RIGHT: Heal/Eisnor House, 1946. Connie Ostis Collection
RIGHT: Mabel Eisnor (right) with Jean Smith (left) and Sally Smith,

¢.1947. Connie Ostis Collection

BOTTOM RIGHT: Record of Westport Pastors from Methodist

Episcopal Church Records

BELOW: Newspaper article from the Bath Independent, April 22, 1916.

Once more Westport has a preach-
er and it seems good after so long a
time. The Rev. Mabel Eisner ar-
rived here last week and will conduct
services every Sunday. She is a
person of more than a pleasing per-
sonality and possesses a marked abil-
ity as preacher, coming to us from
Georgetown and Arrowsic where she
has supplied for several years, de-
voting her time to service and un-
tiring Christian work among the peo-
ple of these towns, which are now
being supplied by the Rev. J. E.
Churchill who impressed the people
last Sunday with his free practical
talk. Rev. Eisner will occupy the
parsonage at the Center. She has
with her Miss Jones, a teacher, as
companion.
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n 1947, Jack (1915-1984) and Jean Smith
(1917-2006) of Westwood, Massachusetts, accepted

an invitation to visit Westport Island where their next-
door neighbors, the Perrys, had a summer cottage.
While there, the beautiful Heal Cove property caught
their eyes. Jack approached owner Mabel Eisnor and
asked if she was interested in selling her home. Mabel,
who had lived there alone for 10 years, said, "l am, but |
have nowhere to go." Jack countered that he wanted to
buy it, but didn’t have the money.The two agreed on a
price of $3,000 with a seven-year $25/month payment
plan that included the contents of the house, barn, and
outbuildings. Mabel retained the right to live in the house
during those seven years. She lived in a rear portion of
the house, which included a sitting room and overhead
bedroom.The Smiths seftled info the main house for
summer vacations and long holiday weekends.

For their four children, it was a summer playground. For
Jack and Jean, most vacation hours were spent working
on the house and grounds. When the house was paid
off on March 1,1955, Mabel moved fo be near friends in
Walpole, Massachusetts.

ABOVE TOP: Mabel Eisnor and John “Lloyd” Smith, Sr.
(father of Jack Smith), c. 1950. Connie Ostis Collection

ABOVE: Jack Smith Jr. and his dad, John “Lloyd” Smith
Sr., out on the water with children Spike, Connie, and Sally
at Heal Cove, c. 1950. Jack Smith’s father stayed with them
every summer until he died in 1952. Connie Ostis Collection

LEFT: Check register entry showing payment to Mabel
Eisnor in December 1955. Connie Ostis Collection

RIGHT: Heal Cove summer playground:
Connie, Spike and Sally Smith fishing
(1949); Jack and Spike Smith digging for
clams (1957). Connie Ostis Collection



m n 1971, after 31 years as a manager of
Customer Engineering for IBM in Boston, Jack retired.
Jean was a registered nurse. The couple moved fo
Westport. Jack upgraded his farming equipment,
earned an instrument rating to fly his plane, and the two
remodeled the home. Jack served as a Select Board
member (1975-76), as Road Commissioner in 1976,
and did town road work for several years. Jean devoted
her time to gardening, putting her nursing skills to use in
community health programs, and serving the church.

After Jack’s death in 1984, Jean lived another 17 years

in the home until her health required her to move. Upon
Jean’s death in 2006, the property went info a trust with
her three surviving children serving as trustees.

Prior to Jean’s death, funds intended for property
maintenance were required for her care.To “save the
family farm,” daughter Connie (Smith) Ostis turned

the property info a vacation rental “venue” property. The
property hosted many weddings and family reunions
until Connie’s retirement and move to the island in 2017.
As the only remaining child, upon her death the trust will
end, and the property will go to Jack and Jean Smith’s
eight grandchildren for its next chapter.

ABOVE TOP: Heal Cove barn and Jack’s truck, c.1949.

ABOVE BOTTOM: Jack Smith’s father “Lloyd” Smith with his
“shop” in background, 1948.

Connie Ostis Collection

ABOVE: Truck in water belonged to Walter Greenleaf. Herbert =~ ABOVE: Heal’s Mill bridge after Walter Greenleaf’s truck and
Cromwell, Sr. and his son Judd were in the truck when it fell snow plow collapsed the center span, Dec. 1946.
through the bridge, Dec. 1946. Colby-Greenleaf Collection Colby-Greenleaf Collection
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CLOCKWISE FROM ABOVE:

Smith family on Westport c.1957. Jen in front of Jean, Connie,
Spike, Jack, and Sal.

Heal Cove house, 1948.

Jack Smith,with his Cessna Skyhawk, c.1975.

Jean Smith by one of her gardens, ¢.1990.

Jack and Jean Smith with their four adult children, 1982.

Connie Ostis Collection
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‘ hroughout time, Heal Cove has captured
the imagination. Advantageous geography and natural
beauty have invited reflection and creative expression.
Remnants of the historic mills still add interest and
mystery fo ifs tidal shore.

At the start of the 20th century, the cove and its
structures were captured in fourist postcards. In the
1960s, a winter view of the Heal homestead was
selected by the Brunswick Naval Air Station as its
Christmas card image and was sent to over 700 naval
communication groups around the world. In 2019,

a view of its waterfront looking towards Tyler Islands
was the cover image for Westport’s Comprehensive
Plan. During its years as an event renfal, its beauty was
memorialized as the backdrop in countless weddings
and family events. In recent summers, a plein air group
has met on “Connie’s lawn,” capturing its beauty with
their palettes.

The Smith family would like that their legacy will be to
preserve in some way the view that has been celebrated
by so many.

ABOVE: Heal Cove Sunset, 2024.

RIGHT: Newspaper article about donated Heal Cove tree, 2006.
Connie Ostis Collection

ABOVE: Naval Air Station Christmas card, 1960s.
Connie Ostis Collection



DISPLAYED ARTIFACTS:

From the Smith/Ostis barn and back
house. Milk jugs, coffee grinder,
kettle, and Borden’s Condensed Milk
promotional fan. All items c. 1910.

Connie Ostis Collection



DISPLAYED ARTIFACTS:

TOP: Logging tools. Connie Ostis Collection
BOTTOM: School books and school ledgers used by
teacher Mabel Heal. Town Hall Collection

RIGHT: Autograph book belonging to Louise Brooks,
signed by Mabel Heal. GD Richardson Sr. Family Collection

“When the name that I write here is dim on the page,
And the leaves of your album are yellow with age,
Still think of me kindly, and do not forget
That, whereverl am, I remember you yet.

Mabel P. Heal

Jan. 4t 1888 Westport



This exhibit was created in conjunction with the Friends of Westport Island History annual celebration event
which was held in July 2024.The event was made possible by the gracious support of the Smith-Ostis family
who opened their house and their remembrances to honor the legacy of the Heal Cove property
and by the generous support of the financial and hospitality sponsors listed below.
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WESTPORT ISLAND HISTORY

The Friends of Westport Island History, is a 501(c)(3) non-profit
organization. Its mission is to educate, communicate, support
research, acquire documents and artifacts, and fundraise, all to
further the collection and preservation of Westport Island’s history.



